047 Wapp 0.A.45-93

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED
SID J. WHITE
DEC 17 1992

Criter Deputy Clerk

MICHAEL ALLEN ADAMS,

Petitioner/Appellant,)

versus

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

JAMES B. GIBSON
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

CASE NO. 80,239

ANNE MOORMAN REEVES
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
Florida Bar No. 0934070
112 Orange Avenue, Suite A
Daytona Beach, FL 32114
Phone: 904-252-3367

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The petitioner accepts the case and facts as they appear in the opinion of the Fifth District Court of Appeal except insofar as the facts allow the conclusion that the petitioner dealt with a middleman rather than a state agent. The petitioner sets forth in the body of the argument the material facts omitted by the district court, which facts lead to the contrary conclusion that the petitioner was entrapped.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Section 777.201, Florida Statutes (1987), memorializes the "objective" test, as is borne out by the substance, if not by the language, of the caselaw. Under this objective inquiry into police methods, the trial court correctly dismissed the charge of trafficking against the petitioner, based on entrapment. The petitioner was induced by a state agent to commit a crime where there was no evidence of ongoing criminal activity and no governance to insure that the means used to discover crime did not instead create it. Such methods pose substantial risk of inducing ordinary people to engage in criminal behavior, and are the sort of conduct that the entrapment defense is meant to deter, including the use of a de facto agent, otherwise styled a "middleman."

ARGUMENT

PETITIONER WAS ENTRAPPED AS A MATTER OF LAW ACCORDING TO THE "OBJECTIVE" STANDARD OF ENTRAPMENT WHICH EXISTS IN FLORIDA IN BOTH CASELAW AND STATUTE.

The District Court of Appeal found that the petitioner,
Michael Adams, was induced to engage in crime not by a state
agent but by a middleman, and held that the defense of entrapment
was therefore not available to him. Review of this cause raises
the overarching question of the nature of the defense of entrapment.

As this court notes in <u>Herrera v. State</u>, 594 So.2d 275, 277 (Fla. 1992), entrapment is a defense created by the courts. The seminal case is <u>Sorrells v. United States</u>, 287 U.S. 435, 53 S.Ct. 210, 77 L.Ed.413 (1932). Here the Court recognized the impropriety of convicting defendants for criminal activity instigated by the government.¹

In <u>Sherman v. United States</u>, 356 U.S. 369, 2 L.Ed.2d 848, 78 S.Ct. 819 (1958), the Court relied upon <u>Sorrells</u> to "conclude from the evidence that entrapment was established as a matter of law." Writing for the majority, Mr. Chief Justice Warren decried any act that "plays on the weaknesses of an innocent party and beguiles him into committing crimes which he otherwise would not have attempted. <u>Law enforcement does not require methods such as this.</u>" (Emphasis added.)

The reason, according to the Court, was that the defendant caught in this situation was somehow "innocent." <u>Sorrells</u>, 287 U.S. at 451.

The underscored statement embodies in little the "objective" theory of entrapment. It considers not individual proclivities, but examines the propriety of police acts. The principle may be restated thus: To deter the reprehensible practice of entrapment, the defendant caught thereby will be let go. This is a matter of public policy crucial in a civilized society. See, e.g., State v. Hunter, 586 So.2d 319, 322-324 (Fla. 1991) (Barkett, J., concurring in part, dissenting in part).

Florida's constitution provides due process protection against such methods. Article I, section 9, of the Florida Constitution provides that the laws of the state shall be carried out with due process, or in other words, with fairness. See Herrera v. State, 594 So.2d 275, 278 (Fla. 1992) (Kogan, J., concurring in result only, with opinion). Concerned over the potential for abuse that naturally accompanies the use of subterfuge in combatting crime, Mr. Justice Kogan offered the reminder that due process, or fairness, requires that police conduct not fall below standards "to which common feelings respond, for the proper use of governmental power." Hunter, 586 at 324 (Kogan, J., concurring in part, dissenting in part) (citations omitted).

In <u>Cruz v. State</u>, 465 So.2d 516, 521-522 (Fla.), <u>cert</u>.

<u>denied</u>, 473 U.S. 905, 105 S.Ct. 3527, 87 L.Ed.2d 652 (1985), this court addressed this very real danger. Recognizing that the issue of "objective" entrapment is "a matter of law for the trial court to decide," and rests on whether "the police have cast their nets in permissible waters," the court elaborated the

following guide, a "threshold" test for entrapment:

Entrapment has not occurred as a matter of law where police activity (1) has as its end the interruption of a specific ongoing criminal activity; and (2) utilizes means reasonably tailored to apprehend those involved in the ongoing criminal activity.

<u>Id</u>. at 522.

The <u>Cruz</u> formula was enacted into law in 1987, through the promulgation of section 777.201, Florida Statutes (1987):

(1) A law enforcement officer, a person engaged in cooperation with a law enforcement officer, or a person acting as an agent of a law enforcement officer perpetrates an entrapment if, for the purpose of obtaining evidence of the commission of a crime, he induces or encourages and, as a direct result, causes another person to engage in conduct constituting such crime by employing methods of persuasion or inducement which create a substantial risk that such crime will be committed by a person other than one who is ready to commit it.

This section collapses both prongs of the <u>Cruz</u> standard into language that parallels section 2.13 of the Model Penal Code. By providing that certain methods of "encouragement" are repugnant to ideals of fairness and constitute a defense to the crime committed, this language retains the intention to measure government acts against an objective standard.²

This court recently reaffirmed the doctrine of "objective" entrapment, with its concern for fairness and right action, in Hunter, 586 So.2d at 322. Repeating the Cruz two-part test as the initial inquiry to be conducted when considering the defense of entrapment, the court concluded that "[b]y focusing on police

But cf. Gonzales v. State, 571 So.2d 1346, 1349-1350 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990) (Cruz test is two-fold, including both a "subjective," individual proclivities, test, and an "objective," due process, test.

conduct, this objective entrapment standard includes due process considerations."

In the petitioner's case, the district court did not discuss whether the inducement to engage in crime, if performed by the state or its agent, would have constituted entrapment. Nor did the court discuss the nature of entrapment, whether "objective" or "subjective." It did not reach these issues because it found that Michael Adams had been persuaded to crime by a middleman, and not by the state.

However, the facts in the record-on-appeal do not support the district court's conclusion that Adams had no entrapment defense to assert. The major actor in the drug setup was Danny Sly, who "wanted to help" Easterling produce three drug traffickers (Record-on-Appeal, p. 50). The trial transcript shows that Sly was certainly aware of Easterling's substantial assistance agreement, and that Hollecker might know, although Easterling herself did not tell him (Record-on-Appeal, p. 38). The fact that a third person, Mark Hollecker, found Adams for Easterling and Sly does not eliminate state involvement. It was Sly who negotiated with Michael Adams, Sly who suggested the place of the transaction, Sly who informed Adams how much contraband was

³ Further, even if the objective view is "not founded on constitutional principles," <u>Cruz</u>, 465 at 520, n.2, the "prostitution of the law" meant to be avoided partakes of the same controlling ideal of civilized law as the constitututional principle of due process. <u>See State v. Glosson</u>, 462 So.2d 1082 (Fla. 1985), for an entrapment analysis whose crux is that government conduct which violates constitutional due process rights requires dismissal of criminal charges.

needed and for what amount of money (Record-on-Appeal, pp. 38-40).4

The <u>Cruz</u> standard rests on "ongoing criminal activity" and "reasonably tailored means." Addressing the ongoing activity requirement, the state points to Adams's prior drug exchanges and companionable use with Hollecker. The correct analysis, however, would recognize that "ongoing activity" cannot include what law enforcement agencies are not already aware of. <u>Fezzella v. State</u>, 513 So.2d 1328 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987) (persuading a Quaalude addict to buy Quaaludes from police agent where police had no knowledge of previous illicit drug activity was entrapment); <u>State v. Banks</u>, 499 So.2d 894 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986) (use of sex to obtain contraband defendant did not already possess may be the manufacture of crime). Although section 777.201 does not specifically mention ongoing activity, it is plain that without such knowledge the police cannot demonstrate lack of improper inducement.

The second prong of the <u>Cruz</u> analysis is implicit in section 777.201. Analyzing Michael Adams's facts under this "reasonably tailored" requirement reveals that the law enforcement personnel in charge of Easterling's substantial assistance agreement did not instruct or oversee her efforts to produce traffickers

⁴ The petitioner asserts, without admitting, that at the very least Hollecker was a de facto agent of the state, and notes that the state should not be permitted to accomplish indirectly what it may not do directly.

⁵ The principle is similar to that requiring probable cause before police may search for evidence of wrongdoing.

(Record-on-Appeal, pp. 34, 42-43, 49). Thus, the state's conduct was so lax that it cannot lay claim to reasonableness as required by either <u>Cruz</u> or section 777.201.

The state of the law interpreting entrapment, as well as its application, is in flux. The petitioner suggests that in spite of conclusions to the contrary, entrapment cases in Florida are decided on facts supporting the objective view. That is, it is plain from the facts of entrapment cases that the real determining factor is police misconduct. The so-called subjective test is invariably passed by a person who was the victim of unacceptable police behavior. In other words, the behavior of the state agent was such as to fail the objective test considering the "proper use" of government power, to which "common feelings respond." Sherman v. United States, 356 U.S. 369, 2 L.Ed.2d 848, 78 S.Ct. 819 (1958).

Confusion would be reduced by this court's acknowledgment that section 777.201, Florida Statutes (1987), embodies the objective aspect of entrapment law. The subjective view is, at best, a subset of the objective, and is logically subsumed by it. The objective theory of entrapment serves the public policy of deterring reprehensible police conduct. Whether the defendant is guilty of a certain act is less crucial a consideration than the means by which that guilt was brought about. In the final analysis, certain means fall below what is acceptable in a civilized society, and those cannot be condoned.

As a postscript, it is perhaps relevant to mention the

standard jury instruction approved by this court in 1989. This instruction (not the substantive law it tracks), by setting forth the obverse of section 777.201, restructures Florida's entrapment law to eliminate its chief deterrence of wrong government acts—the objective examination of police activity.

CONCLUSION

BASED UPON the arguments made and authorities cited herein, petitioner respectfully requests that this honorable court reverse the judgment and sentence of the Fifth District Court of Appeal and reinstate the order of the trial court, and remand this cause to the trial court with directions that the petitioner be discharged.