1-25



IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ELERK, SUPREME COURT

By_____Chief Deputy Clerk

MICHAEL ALLEN ADAMS,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 80,239

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ANTHONY J. GOLDEN ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar #162172 210 N. Palmetto Ave. Suite 447 Daytona Beach, FL 32114 (904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 24, 1990, Petitioner was charged by Information with a violation of Section 893.135, Florida Statutes (1989), knowingly selling, delivering or possessing more than twenty eight grams but less than 200 grams of a mixture containing methamphetamine and ephedrine, a substance controlled by Section 893.03(2)(c)3, Florida Statutes (1989). (Appendix I -- Second Supplement to the Record on Appeal). Petitioner filed a Motion to Dismiss in the trial court grounded upon a claim of objective entrapment. (R105-107). After an evidentiary hearing on February 11, 1991, that motion was granted by the trial court. (R3-67, 119-126). The State filed a timely Notice of Appeal from that order. (R127). The Fifth District Court of Appeal reversed the trial court's order of dismissal and remanded the cause for trial in its opinion filed on June 26, 1992 in State v. Adams, 600 So. 2d 1302 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992). Notice to Invoke this Court's Discretionary Jurisdiction was filed in the District Court on July 27, 1992. By order dated November 16, 1992, this Court accepted jurisdiction of this case.

- 1 -

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Kelley Jo Easterling was arrested on July 20, 1990 by the Kissimmee Police Department and charged with Trafficking in Cocaine. In order to obtain a reduction of the charge against her, she agreed to provide substantial assistance to the department in making three additional narcotics trafficking arrests. (R32-34, 119-121).

Toward this end, she enlisted the aid of her boyfriend, Danny Sly. They contacted a friend, Mark Hollecker, who directed them to Michael Adams, the Petitioner. (R35). As Petitioner pointed out in his Motion to Dismiss, Sly was aware that Easterling was acting as a confidential informant for the police, but Hollecker was not aware of this fact. (R106).

Petitioner, Michael Adams, testified in his own behalf and said that he had known Hollecker for about twenty years. They had used marijuana and cocaine together in the past. Adams said that he received a message on his answering machine from Hollecker. He returned the call and Hollecker told him that he needed an ounce of cocaine for a friend of his. Adams called back and told Hollecker that he had been unable to get any cocaine, but that he could get some methamphetamine (crank). Adams said that he agreed to get the methamphetamine because both he and Hollecker would profit from the transaction -- Hollecker would make \$100 and Adams would get an ounce and one-half of methamphetamine for his own use. They agreed that Adams would deliver the methamphetamine at a Seven-Eleven store in Kissimmee. Adams said that he was supposed to deliver the narcotics to

- 2 -

Hollecker and that, during their meeting in Lakeland, he did not believe that he had spoken twenty words with Easterling. When he arrived at the store and told Easterling he had the contraband, he was placed under arrest. (R54-63).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioner was induced to commit this offense by a middleman, not a State agent, and, therefore, the defense of objective entrapment is not available to him. <u>State v. Hunter</u>, 586 So. 2d 319, 322 (Fla. 1991). In any event, the two-pronged test for objective entrapment propounded in <u>Cruz v. State</u>, 465 So. 2d 516 (Fla. 1985) has been legislatively abolished.

Even if it could be said that a State agent induced Petitioner to commit this crime, under Section 777.201, Florida Statutes (1989), Petitioner has not established that he was not predisposed to commit this offense and, under a due process analysis, Petitioner has not established that the actions of the government in this case were shocking or outrageous.

ARGUMENT

THE DECISION OF THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT REVERSING THE ORDER OF THE TRIAL COURT FINDING THAT PETITIONER HAD BEEN OBJECTIVELY ENTRAPPED SHOULD BE APPROVED BY THIS COURT.

The major thrust of Petitioner's argument is that the District Court was incorrect in concluding that a middleman (Mark Hollecker), not a State agent, induced Petitioner (Adams) to engage in the narcotics transaction and that entrapment was, therefore, not an available defense. <u>State v. Hunter</u>, 586 So. 2d 319, 322 (Fla. 1991). His contention is that Ms. Easterling's boyfriend, Danny Sly, who was aware of her substantial assistance agreement with the Kissimmee Police Department, had negotiated the sale on her behalf and improperly induced Petitioner to engage in the commission of this crime and that he was acting as a State agent.

However, that contention is refuted by Petitioner's own testimony. He said that he had known Hollecker for twenty years, that they had smoked pot, cocaine and crank together before. (R54). He said that Hollecker left a message on his answering machine asking him to call. Adams returned the call and Hollecker said he wanted an ounce of cocaine for a friend. Hollecker was going to get \$100 for arranging the purchase. Adams called again later and told Hollecker that he could not get any cocaine, but that he could get an ounce of methamphetamine but that he wanted a gram and one-half of methamphetamine for his trouble. (R55-58). When he was asked what persuaded him to proceed with this transaction, Petitioner said: "The fact that Mark would make a hundred dollars and I would get a gram and a half." (R58). Petitioner later said:

...I had a problem with Kelley and I was trying to make it so Mark did the deal. That was my part of it. That way I didn't have to mess with Kelley. Mark would take care of everything... (R61-62).

When asked who suggested that the sale take place in Kissimmee, Petitioner said it was Hollecker. (R62). He said no one persuaded him to deal with Kelley Easterling. "I was supposed to deliver them to Mark Hollecker." (R62). When Petitioner arrived at the agreed meeting place for the drug transaction, Hollecker was not there but Easterling was. She asked Petitioner if he had the dope and, when he said he did, he was arrested. (R63).

Based upon this testimony, it can hardly be said that testified that Petitioner was entrapped. He he was a methamphetamine addict. He said that he had "scored drugs" and used them with Hollecker before. He said that they had smoked pot, cocaine and crank (methamphetamine) together. (R54-55). He said he agreed to participate in this transaction because both he and Hollecker would profit from it. He repeatedly said that he was dealing with Hollecker and that he never intended to deal Petitioner admitted in his Motion to Dismiss with Easterling. that Hollecker was not aware of Easterling's substantial Ms. Easterling also testified assistance agreement. (R106). that she had not told Hollecker about her substantial assistance agreement. (R38).

This Court dealt with a virtually identical problem in <u>Hunter</u>, Supra. Ron Diamond was a convicted drug trafficker who was providing substantial assistance to the State in arresting other traffickers. He attempted to get his neighbor, Kelly Conklin, to supply him drugs. After much coaxing, she enlisted David Hunter who sought out a former employee to provide the drugs. The Court concluded that Conklin had been entrapped by Diamond, a State agent. However, the Court held that the defense of objective entrapment was not available to Hunter because he had been induced to engage in the crime by Kelly Conklin, a middleman, not a State agent. (See Appendix II -- Judge Cowart's dissent questioning the morality and logic of this middleman distinction).

In the instant case, Kelley Easterling was providing the substantial assistance to the State. She got her boyfriend, Danny Sly, to help her find a drug dealer. He enlisted Mark Hollecker who sought out his long time friend, the Petitioner, Michael Adams. The defense of objective entrapment might be available to Mr. Hollecker, who had been enlisted by a State agent, Easterling, and her boyfriend, Sly. However, like Hunter, Adams was induced to engage in the crime by a middleman, not a State agent. The trial court properly applied the doctrine of <u>Hunter</u> to the facts of this case.

There seems to be little question that Petitioner was predisposed to commit this crime. He had been a drug addict for years and he had purchased and used pot, cocaine and methamphetamine with Hollecker in the past. He admitted that he

- 7 -

was motivated to involve himself in the transaction by the prospect of profit for himself and Hollecker. There was no need for any coaxing to get Petitioner involved in this scheme as opposed to the extended harassment necessary to induce Conklin's participation in the <u>Hunter</u> case. In any event, this entrapment issue is now an issue for the trier of fact and is not properly the subject of a pretrial motion to dismiss. See Section 777.201, Florida Statutes (1987).

The issue before this Court, assuming that the middleman principle of <u>Hunter</u> is for some reason found to be inapplicable to the facts of this case, is whether the concept of substantial assistance inevitably collides with the doctrine of objective entrapment as set forth in <u>Cruz v. State</u>, 465 So. 2d 516 (Fla.), <u>cert. denied</u> 473 U.S. 905, 105 S.Ct. 3527, 87 L.Ed.2d 652 (1985), and, ultimately, whether the two-pronged test for objective entrapment is still applicable in light of the 1987 enactment of Section 777.201 as a direct legislative response to Cruz.

In its opinion subjudice, the Fifth District Court of Appeal concluded that such substantial assistance agreements do not constitute a per se violation of the Florida State Constitutional due process rights of a defendant as enunciated in <u>State v.</u> <u>Glosson</u>, 462 So. 2d 1082 (Fla. 1985). In reaching that conclusion, the District Court relied on this Court's decisions in <u>Hunter</u>, Supra, and <u>State v. Krajewski</u>, 587 So. 2d 1175 (Fla. 4th DCA), quashed 589 So. 2d 254 (Fla. 1991), on remand 597 So. 2d 814 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992), as well as its decisions in <u>State v.</u> Anders, 560 So. 2d 288 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990), vacated 587 So. 2d

- 8 -

455 (Fla. 1991); and <u>State v. Embry</u>, 563 So. 2d 147 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990), quashed 588 So. 2d 995 (Fla. 1991) on remand 593 So. 2d 327 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992) .

However, as for the effect of Section 777.201 on the test for objective entrapment, the answer is not quite so clear. In <u>Herrera v. State</u>, 594 So. 2d 275, 278-280 (Fla. 1992), the majority of this Court found that Section 777.201(2) allocating the burden of proof of subjective entrapment to the defendant was not unconstitutional. In concurring in the result only, Justice Kogan noted that, because the defense of objective entrapment was not available to the defendant under the facts of that case, the Court's opinion had appropriately declined to address the issues raised by this statute as it relates to objective entrapment.

This objective entrapment issue has been briefed and argued before this Court in <u>Munoz v. State</u>, Florida Supreme Court Case Number 78,900. No decision in that case has been forthcoming as of yet. The State's position in this case, as it was in <u>Munoz</u>, is that the Florida legislature enacted Ch. 87-243, s. 42, Laws of Florida, Section 777.201, Florida Statutes, in direct response to this Court's decision in <u>Cruz</u>, Supra, and that legislation abolished the <u>Cruz</u> two-pronged test for objective entrapment.

It seems apparent from his opinion in <u>Herrera</u> that Justice Kogan at least is convinced that the enactment of Section 777.201 did not effect the viability of the doctrine of objective entrapment as enunciated by this Court in <u>Cruz</u>, Supra. Likewise, Justice McDonald's opinion in <u>Glosson</u>, Supra, indicates that he too feels that Article I Section 9 of the Florida Constitution offers greater due process protections than have been recognized by the federal courts. He noted that the United States Supreme Court and the other federal courts have only recognized a federal due process defense, regardless of a defendant's predisposition, if:

> ...the conduct of law enforcement agents is so outrageous that due process principles would absolutely bar the government from invoking judicial processes to obtain a conviction. <u>United States v.</u> <u>Russell</u>, 411 U.S. 423, 431-432, 93 S.Ct. 1637, 1642-1643, 36 L.Ed.2d 366 (1973).

In <u>Cruz</u>, this Court rejected the United States Supreme Court's view that the objective and subjective views of entrapment are mutually exclusive and adopted the view of the New Jersey Supreme Court in <u>State v. Molnar</u>, 81 N.J. 475, 484, 410 A. 2d 37, 41 (1980) that the two tests for entrapment can coexist. The New Jersey court fashioned a test of "whether the police activity has overstepped the bounds of permissible conduct" holding that:

> ...when official conduct inducing crime is so egregious as to impugn the integrity of a court that permits a conviction, the predisposition of the defendant becomes irrelevant...

This Court further expanded the concept of objective entrapment by judicially enacting a two-pronged test for objective entrapment purportedly based on the Model Penal Code, Section 2.13 (1962). It was this judicial intrusion into the legislative realm that Section 777.201 was intended to redress. The trial court would

still have to address as a matter of law the threshold due process question whether "police conduct revealed in the particular case falls below standards, to which common feelings respond, for the proper use of governmental power." However, the two-pronged test of Cruz far exceeds any prior interpretation of what is meant by that phrase and was an improper judicial incursion into the realm of the legislature. Section 777.201 was a direct legislative response to Cruz. While it may still be appropriate for a trial court to determine as a matter of law whether there has been governmental misconduct amounting to a violation of a defendant's constitutional due process rights requiring the dismissal of criminal charges, the two-pronged test for objective entrapment propounded in Cruz as a guide to trial courts is overly restrictive.

Under a due process analysis, the defense would have the burden of showing that the challenged conduct was outrageous or shocking. involves consideration of the totality It of circumstances with no single factor controlling. Under Cruz, the State has the burden of showing that both prongs of the test have been met regardless of whether the totality of the circumstances demonstrate the proper use of governmental power. A failure to show a known specific ongoing criminal activity involving the defendant would be fatal to the prosecution regardless of the defendant's predisposition or the reasonableness of the government's conduct resulting in his apprehension. For example,

- 11 -

in a situation where undercover agents go out to any street corner and ask if anyone has any crack cocaine, under the <u>Cruz</u> test, charges against those dealers responding to the agents query would arguably have to be dismissed unless the police are able to show that they knew that there were prior drug deals at that corner and that the individuals who responded to their requests had been involved in them. The conduct of the police is reasonable. No one not predisposed is being tricked into selling drugs. But under the <u>Cruz</u> test, they could not be prosecuted. Clearly, this test is unreasonably restrictive.

In the instant case, Petitioner admitted using "every drug that come to town". He said that he had been using drugs for twenty years and had been addicted to methamphetamines since 1983. (R53-54). He also admitted that he had "scored drugs" and used them with Hollecker in the past. He exhibited no hesitation Hollecker's this occasion. responding request on in to Regardless of whether Hollecker was a middleman or a State agent, it can hardly be said that his asking Petitioner to find him some drugs violated either a due process "outrageousness" standard or standard for objective entrapment proposed by Justice the Frankfurter in Sherman v. United States, 356 U.S. 369, 382-383, S.Ct. 819, 825-826, 2 L.Ed.2d 848 (1958): "police 78 conduct...falling below standards, to which common feelings respond, for the proper use of governmental power." It cannot be said that the State agents' conduct was so outrageous that due process principles would absolutely bar Petitioner's prosecution nor can it be said that this conduct was so egregious as to

impugn the integrity of the court in which the case is prosecuted.

Despite the fact that this substantial assistance approach to attacking the drug epidemic has been approved by this Court in <u>Hunter</u> and <u>Krajewski</u>, Supra, and despite the fact that asking Petitioner to supply some drugs can hardly be characterized as outrageous conduct impugning the integrity of the Court, the conduct of the State agents here might not even pass the first prong of the threshold test for objective entrapment propounded "To guide the trial courts" by this Court in <u>Cruz</u> at 522. In enacting Section 777.201, the legislature was saying that it was not its intent to be that unduly restrictive in defining prosecutable criminal conduct.

CONCLUSION

Based on the arguments and authorities presented herein, Respondent respectfully prays this Honorable Court approve the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal reversing the order of the trial court dismissing the charge against Petitioner based upon objective entrapment.